IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-570

SCA EFiled: Jan 05 2024

11:40AM EST

Transaction ID 71747961

(Appeal of Final Order in Harrison County Circuit Court Case No. 22-P-207-3)

JEFFREY JOHN PAGLIA,

A/K/A JEFFREY PAGLIA,

A/K/A JEFFERY PAGLIA,

A/K/A JEFFREY J. PAGLIA,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

**Counsel for Petitioner, Jeffrey John Paglia**

C. Matthew Hickman, WV State Bar ID #12747

*Counsel of Record*

C. Matthew Hickman, Attorney at Law

PO Box 7

Fairmont, West Virginia 26555

Phone: (304) 449-6977

Fax: (304) 999-1074

Email: [c.matthew.hickman@gmail.com](mailto:c.matthew.hickman@gmail.com)

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The circuit court erred when it, before trial, deemed certain audio and video evidence (“body cam footage”), which contained numerous references to Petitioner’s criminal conduct not related to the instant case, to be *res gestae* evidence and *intrinsic* evidence.
2. The circuit court erred when it denied the Petitioner’s *Motion in Limine to Exclude Multiple Potential Items of Evidence and to Further Order the State to Redact or Mute Certain Audio and Video Evidence* (“body cam footage”) *Pursuant to Rule 404(b), Rule 403, Rule 401, and Rule 609(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.*

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

During its September 2022 term, the Harrison County Grand Jury returned a two count Indictment, which started Felony Case No. 22-F-207-3, against the instant Petitioner, Mr. Paglia. Appx. p. 3-4. The Indictment charged Mr. Paglia with having committed two felonies in Harrison County, to-wit: Count One, Grand Larceny, West Virginia Code § 61-3-13(a); and Count Two, Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny, West Virginia Code §§ 61-3-13(a) and 61-10-31. Mr. Paglia's co-defendant, Alicia Ann Williams, was charged and convicted in a separate proceeding of one count of Grand Larceny, and was sentenced to not less than one (1) nor more than ten (10) years in prison on or around May 3, 2022.

A preliminary hearing in this case was held before Magistrate Kevin Renzelli in Harrison County Magistrate Court on or around October 6, 2021. The case was bound over to Harrison County Circuit Court on or around that date. Mr. Paglia was indicted by the September 2022 Term of the Harrison County Grand Jury on the above-referenced two count Indictment. *Id.*

On September 30, 2022, counsel for the Petitioner filed a “*Motion in Limine to Exclude Multiple Potential Items of Evidence and to Further Order the State to Redact or Mute Certain Audio and Video Evidence* (“body cam footage”) Pursuant to Rule 404(b), Rule 403, Rule 401, and Rule 609(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. After receipt of discovery, the Petitioner had concerns that the “body cam footage” contained numerous references to his criminal past and prior criminal convictions. Particularly, this “body cam footage” contains references to the following facts: (1) that the Petitioner has a probation officer; (2) a conversation is present on the “body cam footage” which contains multiple references to the Petitioner’s supervised release status, and the Petitioner was in fact actively on supervised release for a separate offense at the

time of this incident; (3) a subtle reference is made that Petitioner has a history with law enforcement. Appx. p. 8.

After the Petitioner raised these concerns about the “body cam footage” with the State, the State was initially receptive to working with the Petitioner to redact and to appropriately modify the video so that the jury would not hear about these improper references to the Petitioner’s past criminal conduct. To further support this fact, the State, through its counsel below, indicates as such when it filed its February 17, 2023 response to the Petitioner’s *Motion in Limine*, titled: “*State’s Response to Defendant’s Motion in Limine to Exclude Multiple Potential Items of Evidence and to Further Order the State to Redact or Mute Certain Audio and Video Evidence.*” Appx. p. 11-13.

In that response, the State submitted as follows: “[t]he State does not intend to introduce evidence or of his prior convictions in its case in chief or for purposes of attacking the credibility of the defendant . . . unless the defendant opens the door.” Appx. p. 11-13. Further, the State submitted that “[t]he State does not intend on introducing evidence that the defendant was on federal supervised release at the time of the offense and has no issues with redacting the body camera video . . . as requested by counsel . . . . *Id.* However, the State never agreed to redact what Petitioner has previously referenced above as a “subtle reference . . . that Petitioner has a history with law enforcement.” *Id.*

The results of a final pre-trial conference on February 23, 2023 seemingly resulted in the State reversing its own position. Even though the State entered that hearing with the seeming intent of not introducing most of the objected-to material, the Court nevertheless ruled during that hearing that it was *res gestae* evidence, over the objection of the Petitioner. Appx. p. 52-54. Further, the Court denied the Petitioner’s previously filed *Motion in Limine*. Appx. p. 14-16. The

State then failed to redact any of the objected-to material even though it had previously agreed to do so, and even formally indicated its intentions in a written motion response, and played the body cam footage in full at trial over the objection of the Petitioner, references to criminal history, supervised release, and all associated references.

Following a two day Jury Trial on July 10 and 11, 2023, a Harrison County Jury convicted Mr. Paglia on both counts of the Indictment in Felony Case No. 22-F-207-3. Following a sentencing hearing on or around August 23, 2023, Mr. Paglia was sentenced to the following: as to Count One of the Indictment, Grand Larceny, Mr. Paglia was sentenced to the West Virginia Division of Corrects for an indeterminate term of not less than one (1) year, nor more than ten (10) years, from the 18<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2023. Appx. p. 37-41. As to Count Two of the Indictment, Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny, Mr. Paglia was sentenced to the West Virginia Division of Corrections for an indeterminate term of not less than one (1) nor more than five (5) years, and it was further ordered that the sentences on these two counts be run *concurrent. Id.*

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court made two critical errors in this matter which undermined the result of the trial. First, the Court erroneously determined that references the Petitioner’s criminal history, supervised release status, and current probation officer, were relevant and intrinsic *res gestae* evidence, even though the relevant conviction, in reference to a case involving “Structuring Monetary Transactions to Evade Reporting Requirements, or Conspiracy to Possess with Intent to Distribute and to Distribute Controlled Substances and Controlled Substances Analogues” in the *United States of Jeffrey J. Paglia*, Case Number 1:12CR25-01, was not relevant whatsoever to this case. Appx. p. 11.

This old nearly decade-old federal case involved financial and controlled substances allegations, neither of which are remotely related, or remotely causally linked to this Grand Larceny / Conspiracy to Commit Grand Larceny Indictment – nor did the State offer any evidence of any sort of link at trial. Further, the facts leading to that conviction were, at minimum, over eight years old at the time of the factual circumstances leading to the instant Indictment, as evidenced by the fact that federal case has a 2012 case number.

Second, the Court erred in failing to conduct a proper analysis under Rules 404(b) and Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. Not only was this evidence simply not relevant – it was substantially outweighed by a danger of unfair prejudice within the meaning of Rule 403. Here, the Circuit Court seemed to suggest that it could be used for some sort of Rule 404(b) purpose – for example, motive. Appx. p. 54. However, the State never provided notice that it intended to introduce Rule 404(b) evidence, nor did it overly pursue this motive theory at trial – in fact, the only written notice the State gave was that it intended *not* to introduce this evidence. Appx. p. 11-12.

These two factors, when viewed together, undermined the trial. Mr. Paglia has a fundamental right to a fair trial, which was violated when the jury was allowed to hear about past criminal conduct and multiple references to it through the introduction of body camera footage, and such conduct which had absolutely nothing to do with the present allegations. Further, this conduct that took place over eight years prior, rendering it both temporally and factually irrelevant.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The Circuit Court Erred When it Deemed Certain Body Camera Footage, Containing Numerous References to Criminal Conduct Not Related to the Instant Case, to be *res gestae* and *intrinsic* evidence.**

Most fundamentally, a Defendant in a criminal case is entitled to fairness in all proceedings against him. One of the most common sources of fundamental *unfairness* in criminal proceedings arises when a prosecutor chooses to present evidence outside of the four corners of the charging document, particularly when it may deal with criminal conduct to which the Defendant has already answered to, been convicted of, and suffered the consequences for, such as in this case.

The reality cannot be escaped that Rule 404(b) determinations are one of the most frequently appealed in our criminal justice system, and there is good reason for this. Further, when a Court and/or prosecutor gets it wrong, these rulings are also among the largest causes of reversals of criminal convictions. *State v. McGinnis*, W. Va. 147, 153 (1994). This Court has also been consistently crystal clear on this topic on numerous occasions over the years. This Court has said that the admission of collateral crime evidence is highly prejudicial, and that its improper admission has generally held to constitute reversible error. *State v. Edward Charles L.*, 183 W. Va. 641 (1990). See also *State v. Simmons*, 175 W. Va. 656, 658 (1985).

In this case, the Court did not get too much into a Rule 404(b) analysis, even though it clearly needed to. The Court below had the idea that these references to the Petitioner's past criminal conduct, conduct nearly a decade old, was intrinsic to the present case simply because the Petitioner mentioned it, and the Court *theorized* that the Petitioner was using it as an "excuse," and even though there is no causal, factual, or temporal link between the past criminal

conduct and the conduct for which the Defendant was indicted as the result of the May 2021 incident.

This Court has also commented on the *res gestae* doctrine in the context of a criminal case through multiple cases. Importantly, this Court has continually held that other criminal act evidence admissible as part of the *res gestae* or same transaction, **must be confined to that which is reasonably necessary to accomplish such purpose.** *State v. Spicer*, 162 W. Va. 127 (1978). On some occasions, this Court has found that *res gestae* evidence, even if not introduced as part of the four corners of the charging document, has been properly introduced. For example, in one case, testimony received at trial about events allegedly occurring one to three months prior, in the overall context of a robbery, sexual assault, and domestic violence case, was found by the trial court to be “[a]s part of the fabric of the underlying charge,” further taking it outside the scope of Rule 404(b) analysis. See *State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331 (2004).

This Court went on to state that “[e]vents, declarations, and circumstances which are near in time, causally connected with, and illustrative of transactions being investigated are generally considered *res gestae* and admissible at trial. *Id.* See also Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Ferguson*, 165 W. Va. 529 (1980).

Here, a summary of the facts, as germane to this appeal, are as follows. Alicia Ann Williams, the co-defendant, and the instant Petitioner, were present at the Wingate Hotel in Bridgeport, West Virginia, on May 24, 2021. Appx. p. 218. It was established that Mr. Paglia took the co-defendant to the hotel on May 24, 2021. *Id.* It was further established that the co-defendant, Alicia Ann Williams, approached the counter at the Wingate Hotel, and was successful in representing herself to be an Assist Services worker, and thereby illegally obtained at least an iPad and a set of keys to an Assist Services vehicle that neither co-defendant had

permission from Assist Services to occupy. Appx. p. 87. It was further established that Mr. Paglia, the petitioner, was in the general vicinity and in the same room, although not right next to Ms. Williams, when Ms. Williams unlawfully obtained company property. Appx. p. 87-88. From there, it was established that the Assist Services vehicle was observed speeding and otherwise engaging in reckless driving behavior a short time later by a female driver, eastbound, on Route 50 heading west from Bridgeport, West Virginia. Appx. p. 81-83.

At a time later, the vehicle was seen coming back in the general direction of the hotel. Appx. p. 105. Due to the overall circumstances of the 911 call and GPS tracking, Assist Services reported the vehicle as stolen to law enforcement. Appx. p. 177. Law enforcement was successfully able to track this Assist Services vehicle to a Sheetz location off of Stoneybrook Road in Clarksburg, West Virginia. Appx. p. 119.

At the time law enforcement approached the vehicle, Alicia Ann Williams was in the driver's seat, while this Petitioner, Jeffrey Paglia, was in the front passenger's seat. Appx. p. 125. Law enforcement further located some of Alicia Williams' apparent belongings in the vehicle, while there was no evidence of any of Jeffrey Paglia's belongings in the vehicle other than what was directly on his person. Appx. p. 129. Law enforcement also noted damage and a decal removal on the driver's side of the vehicle, while no such removal was viewed on the passenger side. Appx. p. 125.

To support its theory of the case, the State introduced evidence that Jeffrey Paglia stated, when Alicia Ann Williams illegally obtained the iPad and keys, that he made a comment to the effect of "she was going to be late for work," and further sought to establish that it was not credible that Jeffrey Paglia believed Alicia Ann Williams to be a legitimate company worker. Appx. p. 96. Mr. Paglia denied making this statement at trial. Appx. p. 250. Mr. Paglia's position

was that he was misled by Alicia Ann Williams in the same type of way that the hotel desk worker witness was, and that he had no intention of stealing a vehicle, particularly because he would have no need to, and he had access to not less than three vehicles aside from the vehicle involved in this matter. Appx. p. 217.

However, during the traffic stop at the Stoneybrook Road Sheetz, numerous references were made to Mr. Paglia's past and overall criminal history from years ago and which was causally disconnected from the instant case. Appx. p. 310. To be more specific, the body camera footage stated the following.

First: there is a conversation regarding Mr. Paglia's supervised release status almost at the start of the video, at around 0:30, that lasts for about 66 seconds. *Id.* Second: another reference is made approximately between 3:23 and 3:26. *Id.* And, there is a subtle reference to the fact that Mr. Paglia may have experience with law enforcement at 13:45, when an officer tells Mr. Paglia "you know how we are," in reference to steps taken by law enforcement incident to arrest, and given the context, a reasonable juror could infer that Mr. Paglia has a negative past with law enforcement. *Id.* While the Petitioner objected to all three instances, primarily on Rule 404(b) and 403 grounds, it also objected to the Circuit Court's *res gestae* ruling before trial. Appx. p. 55.

It was the fear of the Petitioner all along that the introduction of this causally disconnected evidence would perhaps lead a jury to no longer view Mr. Paglia as a bystander, even if one that knew or should have known that Ms. Williams did not have lawful access or possession of the relevant vehicle, and would instead lead the jury to conclude that 'he must have been up to something.'

However, in the present case, there was no evidence or facts supported that the State *needed* the references to the Petitioner's criminal history and past criminal conduct to establish either the overall story, or to place the events of the day into context. In fact, the references to active supervised release status and the past criminal case had absolutely no bearing on any fact of consequence in this matter, nor did it have any tendency whatsoever to make any underlying fact from the events surrounding May 24, 2021, and May 25, 2021, more or less probable. This evidence is the very definition of *extrinsic* evidence. The jury would have still been able to draw its own conclusions of the facts and circumstances of the incident without hearing that the Petitioner had a criminal history.

This concern was more paramount, because even in the light most favorable to the State, the Petitioner was in more of an assistance/aiding and abetting role at best. It was not really disputed that the co-defendant in this matter essentially drove the action. The co-defendant was the sole person who interacted with a hotel desk clerk to obtain an iPad and keys, and there was no evidence presented that the Petitioner was ever in actual possession of them. The State overly relied on a single statement introduced into evidence that the Petitioner said the co-defendant would be "late for work." To be sure, the jury can make certain credibility determinations, as is their duty, of the relevant witnesses. However, given the fairly minimal direct and circumstantial evidence presented against the Petitioner, this is the exact type of case where concerns of improper use of *res gestae* and Rule 404(b) evidence are at its maximum.

Here, the State relied on statements made in reference to an eight-plus-years-old criminal conviction, and the ongoing federal supervised release status stemming from that conviction. Not only was this evidence not relevant, it was simply not connected to the facts of the days in

question in this case. Further, it was never established that the evidence was *reasonably necessary* to establish any relevant fact in this case.

In fact, the State seemed to at one time, even if tacitly, agree with this premise. Appx. p. 11-13. The State at one time agreed to the minimization or exclusion of the evidence referencing a criminal past, but the record clearly indicates that it changed its position. This evidence was in no way, shape, or form, a part of the fabric surrounding the underlying charge, and it was not referenced in any manner in the Indictment or in the charging documents.

The bell cannot be unrung. The perception of this Petitioner, in the eyes of the jury, may have been called into substantial question the moment that the jury learned about the criminal past. It undermined the result and overall integrity of the trial, and it was clear error to allow its admission, particularly after the State had previously already agreed to redact the evidence.

**II. The Circuit Court erred when it denied the Petitioner’s Motion in Limine filed on Rule 404(b), 403, 401, and 609(a) grounds, and further failed to conduct a proper analysis on these grounds.**

Because the “body cam footage” cannot fairly be considered to be *res gestae* evidence, the Court further erred in failing to conduct a proper Rule 404(b) and Rule 403 analysis. Because this evidence cannot be considered *res gestae* and *intrinsic* to the case, but rather *extrinsic*, the State was required to “place the Petitioner on notice of ‘reasonable notice’ of use in advance of trial, or during trial if the court excuses pretrial notice on good cause shown.” See. W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b). Further, it is standard practice in procedure for a Court to conduct an *in camera* hearing to evaluate this evidence. However, the Petitioner concedes that the *in camera* requirements were reasonably met, because the Court still did evaluate this body camera footage prior to and at the February 23, 2023 hearing, with the agreement of the parties.

Regardless, the Court failed to conduct a proper Rule 404(b) or Rule 403 analysis in this case. In fact, the Court seemed to suggest that because it had ruled that the evidence was *res gestae* and part and parcel of the overall case, that no 404(b) analysis was needed.

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