IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Feb 20 2024

01:21 PM EST

Transaction ID 72091489

Appeal No. 23-570

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY JOHN PAGLIA,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

Mary Beth Niday (WV Bar # 9092)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Petitioner’s conduct at the time of his arrest, including slight references to his prior federal conviction, his supervised release or probation status, and the fact that he reported to a probation officer. The court properly found that this evidence was admissible as contextual evidence explaining the circumstances surrounding Petitioner’s arrest and the charged offenses.

If the circuit court committed any error, however, in admitting the evidence as intrinsic or *res gestae* evidence, any such error is harmless. This is because Petitioner has not and cannot demonstrate any prejudice resulting from the admission. In fact, the evidence supported his overall defense that he would not have committed the charged offenses because he was under federal supervision. Moreover, the other evidence of record presented by the State at trial was more than sufficient to prove Petitioner’s guilt even in the absence of the intrinsic evidence.

II. Finally, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in not conducting further analysis of the intrinsic evidence under Rule 404(b) because the jurisprudence of this Court establishes that such analysis is unnecessary when the evidence is intrinsic. The circuit court did consider the evidence under Rules 401, 403, and 609.

The Court should therefore affirm.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is unnecessary and this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed and the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3), (4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A trial court’s evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the rules of evidence, are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.” Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W. Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly admitted intrinsic video evidence of Petitioner’s arrest. To the extent that the court committed any error, such error was harmless. Moreover, the court was not required to conduct a further analysis under the West Virginia Rules of Evidence because the evidence was intrinsic.

Petitioner’s first assignment of error alleges that the circuit court erred in finding that the body cam video footage showing Petitioner’s arrest was res gestae or intrinsic evidence because the evidence was not causally, factually, or temporally linked to the charged offenses. Pet’r’s Br. 10-15. Petitioner asserts that the circuit court “theorized” that Petitioner was using his then release on probation “as an ‘excuse.’” Pet’r’s Br. 10. Petitioner is wrong as the evidence was causally, factually, and temporally linked to the ongoing crimes and placed Petitioner’s statements in context with his arrest.

A. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the evidence surrounding Petitioner’s arrest as demonstrated in a bodycam video was intrinsic or res gestae as it provided context to the circumstances surrounding the charged events.

It has long been recognized by this Court that, before one can determine the applicability of Rule 404(b) to the admission of evidence of prior acts, the first task for the court is to determine

if the evidence is ‘intrinsic’ or ‘extrinsic.’” *State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 351, 607 S.E.2d 437, 457 (2004) (quotations and citations omitted). “Intrinsic evidence” is that which is “inextricably intertwined or both acts are part of a single criminal episode or the other acts were necessary preliminaries to the crime charged.” *Id.* (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Intrinsic evidence can also be evidence that is “necessary to complete the story of the crime.” *State v. McDaniel*, 238 W. Va. 61, 69, 792 S.E.2d 72, 80 (2016). Evidence “pertaining to the chain of events explaining the context, motive, and set-up of the crime,” has been found as “properly admitted if linked in time and circumstances with the charged crime, or forms an integral and natural part of an account of the crime, or is necessary to complete the story of the crime for the jury.” *Id.* In other words, evidence is admissible as intrinsic evidence if it “furnishes part of the context of the crime,” is necessary for a “full presentation of the case,” or is “so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its ‘environment’” that it is necessary “to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context[.]” *Harris*, 230 W. Va. at 721-22, 742 S.E.2d at 137-38.

This showing may be made by a proffer, and when the State’s “proffer fits in to the ‘intrinsic’ category, evidence of other crimes should not be suppressed when those facts come in as *res gestae*—as part and parcel of the proof charged in the indictment.” *Dennis*, 216 W. Va. at 351, 607 S.E.2d at 457. The utility of intrinsic evidence is broad; it allows the proponent of the testimony to provide context to the charged offenses, it illustrates the whole story to the jury, and is “appropriate in order to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the *res gestae*.” *Id.* (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

This Court has noted the confusion with the use of the term *res gestae*, citing to Professor Cleckley's findings that "courts have often used the term *res gestae* in connection with such doctrines as spontaneous exclamation, fresh complaint, and present sense impression." *State v. Young*, 166 W. Va. 309, 315, 273 S.E.2d 592, 597 (1980), superseded by rule by *State v. Sutphin*, 195 W. Va. 551, 466 S.E.2d 402 (1995) (citing Cleckley, *Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers*, s 60 (1978)). This Court also explained that "the term *res gestae* is more generic than particular and includes within its definition four distinct exceptions to the hearsay rule. . . : declarations of present bodily condition; declarations of present mental state and emotion; excited utterances; and declarations of present sense impression." *Young*, 166 W. Va. at 315, 273 S.E.2d at 597 (citing McCormick, *Evidence* § 274 (Cleary, ed., 1972)). The *Young* Court found that *res gestae* evidence are "verbal acts" which are "an integral part of the transaction" and had to be "made contemporaneously with the transaction." 166 W. Va. at 315, 273 S.E.2d at 597.

This Court has, on numerous occasions, analyzed whether evidence is intrinsic or Rule 404(b) character evidence. This Court has held that evidence of a defendant's prior threats to "kill himself, his landlord, [and] his girlfriend," along with additional evidence that he had made threats to a convenience store clerk and carried a gun, were all properly admissible at trial as intrinsic evidence to prove "context evidence illustrating why the appellant committed this murder." *State v. Hutchinson*, 215 W. Va. 313, 320-21, 599 S.E.2d 736, 743-44 (2004). Because this Court found the evidence was intrinsic, it held that the State was not required to provide a Rule 404(b) notice, and that petitioner's counsel had "no reason to object, and the circuit court had no reason to *sua sponte* exclude this evidence." *Id.* at 321, 599 S.E.2d at 744.

This Court approved the admission of two prior domestic violence incidents between the petitioner and his murder victim as intrinsic evidence as well. *State v. McKinley*, 243 W. Va. 143,

154-55, 764 S.E.2d 303, 314-15 (2014). In reaching this conclusion, this Court reiterated that “[o]ur cases have ‘consistently held that evidence which is ‘intrinsic’ to the indicted charge is not governed by Rule 404(b).’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Harris*, 230 W. Va. 717, 722, 742 S.E.2d 133, 138 (2013)).

Despite Petitioner’s contention to the contrary, there is nothing to separate the events leading up to Petitioner’s arrest when he was interacting with law enforcement from inside the stolen vehicle from the *res gestae* of the offenses for which he and his co-defendant were tried. The indictment charges Petitioner with grand larceny of the Assist Services vehicle on May 25, 2021. App. 3-4. The bodycam video evidence offered by the State as intrinsic evidence, occurred in the time period specifically identified in the indictment and clearly evidenced Petitioner sitting in the very vehicle he was charged with stealing.

Most significantly, Petitioner was also charged with conspiracy to commit grand larceny. App. 3-4. Thus, the State had to prove that he acted in concert with another. This affiliation with Ms. Williams in the bodycam video showed how this occurred. Though Petitioner testified that he did not leave the Wingate with Ms. Williams, App. 224:4-8, the bodycam video demonstrates that Petitioner shook his head in the affirmative that he was with her all day, including when she picked up the vehicle at the hotel. App. 310 at 10:54-11:02. This continuity of the crime demonstrates that the evidence was causally, factually, and temporally linked to the crimes. Petitioner’s argument to the contrary does not provide a basis for this Court to find error in the circuit court’s conclusion that the evidence was intrinsic, and that it was properly admissible.

“Remoteness” is typically not a basis to find intrinsic evidence inadmissible. “As a general rule remoteness goes to the weight to be accorded the evidence by the jury, rather than to

admissibility.” Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Winebarger*, 217 W. Va. 117, 617 S.E.2d 467 (2005) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Whether evidence offered is too remote to be admissible upon the trial of a case is for the trial court to decide in the exercise of a sound discretion; and its action in excluding or admitting the evidence will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion.

Id. at syl. pt. 6 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The circuit court addressed the “remoteness” issue when it ruled that the evidence was admissible as intrinsic evidence when it noted that the evidence in question occurred at the time of the arrest. App. 55:6-9. Moreover, the circuit court found that the evidence established Petitioner’s “motive because he’s trying to build an excuse to say, you know, I didn’t do this because I’m on supervised release.” App. 54:12-13. This ruling by the circuit court, and this Court’s guidance in Syllabus Point 6 of *Winebarger*, leave Petitioner with an exceedingly high bar to meet if he is to prove that the evidence was too remote to be admissible. To be sure, Petitioner cannot meet this burden, as the evidence demonstrates a continuous conspiracy.

As to Petitioner’s claim that “causality” or the location of the offenses have any bearing on this determination, such claims are wholly meritless. Pet’r’s Br. 10-11. Despite Petitioner’s reliance on *Dennis*, the Court therein held that collateral crime evidence “must be confined to that which is reasonably necessary to accomplish such purpose.” 216 W. Va. 331, 351, 607 S.E.2d 437, 457 (2004) (citations omitted). Though the circuit court found the video evidence was intrinsic to the crimes charged, the court would not allow the State to inquire into the nature of Petitioner’s prior federal charges or his supervised release or probation even after Petitioner essentially opened the door on direct and cross-examination. *See generally*, App. 228-30, 237-38. Petitioner’s counsel even conceded that “the defense all along” had been that Petitioner “wanted nothing to do with this because he was on supervised release and he knew he was going to get in

trouble.” App. 229:4-9. There is no requirement that “causality” be shown in order for evidence to be properly admitted as intrinsic evidence. This Court has never announced such a requirement, and, if it did, it would effectively eliminate the idea that prior bad acts are not always governed by Rule 404(b).

As the evidence presented was intrinsic to the case, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner’s motion in limine.

B. To the extent that the circuit court committed any error in finding the evidence was intrinsic, such error was harmless because Petitioner was not prejudiced.

Even if there was error in allowing the body cam evidence, Petitioner cannot show prejudice. The “[f]ailure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Syl. pt. 5, *State ex rel. Grob v. Blair*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975). “In conducting a harmless error analysis, the inquiry is fact specific.” *State v. Byers*, 247 W. Va. 168, 875 S.E.2d 306, 317 (2022) (citing *State v. Blake*, 197 W. Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550, 559 (1996) (“Assessments of harmless error are necessarily content-specific.”)). A review of the record shows that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

At trial, the State introduced evidence more than sufficient to prove Petitioner’s guilt. A Wingate employee testified that Ms. Williams told her she was employed with Assist Services and requested the keys to the vehicle and an iPad, which the employee gave her. App. 86:9-24. Petitioner was with Ms. Williams at the time of the request and left the hotel with her. App. 87:21-24. Petitioner and Ms. Williams were ultimately apprehended in the stolen vehicle at a Sheetz. *See generally*, App. 118-21. Law enforcement officers with the Clarksburg and Bridgeport police department responded to the Sheetz and discovered Ms. Williams in the driver’s seat of the stolen vehicle and Petitioner in the passenger seat of the stolen vehicle. App. 123:3-6; 124:23-24; 125:1-

4. Petitioner testified that he was in the vehicle but was not part of Ms. Williams's plan to steal the vehicle. App. 232:1-3; 240:14-24. The bodycam video, however, demonstrated Petitioner's agreement with Ms. Williams that he was with her all day. Thus, despite Petitioner's testimony, the jury could have reasonably not found Petitioner's testimony credible based on all the other evidence presented by the State. The bodycam video showing Petitioner sitting in the stolen vehicle is quite persuasive.

Moreover, the circuit court did not allow the State to question Petitioner about the federal conviction or supervision, even after Petitioner opened the door. Thus, the fact that he was on federal supervision was not emphasized during trial. Petitioner's counsel, though, stated at trial that his defense was that he would not have committed the grand larceny and conspiracy because he was on federal supervision. App. 229:7-8 ("That's essentially been the defense all along."). Introduction of the evidence actually helped his defense. For these reasons, any error the circuit court may have committed in finding the bodycam evidence was intrinsic to the charged offenses is harmless error.

II. The circuit court was not required to conduct further analysis under the West Virginia Rules of Evidence because the evidence was determined to be intrinsic or *res gestae*.

To the extent that Petitioner claims in his brief that the circuit court failed to conduct a Rule 401, 403, 404(b), or 609 analysis, such a claim is without merit as the circuit court is not required to conduct such an analysis simply because the State intends to elicit evidence of prior acts. The evidence and the analysis conducted by the circuit court demonstrate that the evidence was indicative of Petitioner's motive to deny his involvement in the charged offenses and to provide context for his arrest. Having determined that the evidence was intrinsic or *res gestae*, the court was not required to further analyze the evidence under Rules 401, 403, 404(b), or 609. *See*

Hutchinson, 215 W. Va. at 321, 599 S.E.2d at 744 (finding that because the evidence was intrinsic, the State did not need to provide a Rule 404(b) notice); *McKinley*, 243 W. Va. at 154-55, 764 S.E.2d at 314-15 (holding that intrinsic evidence “is not governed by Rule 404(b)”).

This Court spoke extensively on intrinsic evidence in *McDaniel*,

Rule 404(b) only applies to limit the admissibility of evidence of extrinsic acts. Intrinsic evidence, on the other hand, is generally admissible so that the jury may evaluate all the circumstances under which the defendant acted. That is, intrinsic evidence of a crime is admissible without analysis pursuant to Rule 404(b).

238 W. Va. at 69, 792 S.E.2d at 80 (quoting Vol. I, Louis J. Palmer, Justice Robin Jean Davis, Franklin D. Cleckley, *Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers*, § 404.04[5][a] (6th ed. 2015). Thus, as the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the evidence was intrinsic, Rule 404(b) does not apply and the court did not err in failing to consider the evidence thereunder.

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